








2008 Series

Certificates Certificates

2009 Series

Funds

Other

Funds

Governmental

Total

-- - 954,024$ $ $ $
-- - 1,831,708
-- - 14,889
-- - 886,424
-- - 257,962
-- - 35,627
-- - 79,614
-- 154,149 314,039
-- 89,880 939,444

81,8028,942 45 101,954
-- - 2,981
-- - 75
-- 90 304,666

8,942 81,802 244,164 5,723,407

-- - 3,287,102
-- 18,649 2,514,070
-- 10,000 1,315,280
-- 314,321 524,395
-- - 598,923

-- - 680,760
-- - 539,383
-- - 400

17,741- - 17,741

1,968,2331,515,861 - 3,484,094

1,515,861 1,985,974 342,970 12,962,148

(1,506,919) (1,904,172) (98,806) (7,238,741)

-- - 3,730
2,255,000- - 2,255,000

-- 100,000 3,935,061
-- - 19,247
-- - (484,637)

- 2,255,000 100,000 5,728,401

(1,506,919) 350,828 1,194 (1,510,340)

3,783,545 (36,012) 104,244 5,158,894

$ 2,276,626 $ 314,816 $ 105,438 $ 3,648,554

 



CITY OF FORT STOCKTON
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

(1,510,340)$Total Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

2,164,332Current year capital outlays and long-term debt principal payments are expenditures in the Current year capital outlays and long-term debt principal payments are expenditures in the 
fund financial statements, but they should be shown as increases in capital assets and 
reductions in long-term debt in the government-wide financial statements.  The net effect of 

Current year capital outlays and long-term debt principal payments are expenditures in the 
fund financial statements, but they should be shown as increases in capital assets and 
reductions in long-term debt in the government-wide financial statements.  The net effect of 
removing the 2010 capital outlays and debt principal payments is to decrease net assets.

(799,324)Depreciation is not recognized as an expense in governmental funds since it does not require Depreciation is not recognized as an expense in governmental funds since it does not require 
the use of current financial resources.  The net effect of the current year's depreciation is to 
decrease net assets.

(164,863)The cost of the unpaid Net OPEB Obligation is not recognized in the Governmental Funds.

(44,983)Various other reclassifications and eliminations are necessary to convert from the modified Various other reclassifications and eliminations are necessary to convert from the modified 
accrual basis of accounting to accrual basis of accounting.  These include recognizing 
deferred revenue as revenue, adjusting current year revenue to show the revenue earned from 

Various other reclassifications and eliminations are necessary to convert from the modified 
accrual basis of accounting to accrual basis of accounting.  These include recognizing 
deferred revenue as revenue, adjusting current year revenue to show the revenue earned from 
the current year's tax levy, eliminating interfund transactions, reclassifying the proceeds of 

Various other reclassifications and eliminations are necessary to convert from the modified 
accrual basis of accounting to accrual basis of accounting.  These include recognizing 
deferred revenue as revenue, adjusting current year revenue to show the revenue earned from 
the current year's tax levy, eliminating interfund transactions, reclassifying the proceeds of 
bond sales, and recognizing the liabilities associated with maturing long-term debt and 

Various other reclassifications and eliminations are necessary to convert from the modified 
accrual basis of accounting to accrual basis of accounting.  These include recognizing 
deferred revenue as revenue, adjusting current year revenue to show the revenue earned from 
the current year's tax levy, eliminating interfund transactions, reclassifying the proceeds of 
bond sales, and recognizing the liabilities associated with maturing long-term debt and 
interest.  The net effect of these reclassifications and recognitions is to decrease net assets.

(355,178)$Change in Net Assets of Governmental Activities

 

The notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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EXHIBIT C-5CITY OF FORT STOCKTON

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Original Final

(GAAP BASIS)

(Negative)

Positive or
Final Budget

Variance WithActual Amounts

Budgeted Amounts

REVENUES:
Taxes:

495,000495,000 570,209 75,209Property Taxes $ $ $ $

1,950,0001,950,000 1,831,708 (118,292)General Sales and Use Taxes
15,00015,000 14,889 (111)Sales and Use Tax - Mixed Beverages

300,000300,000 257,962 (42,038)Franchise Tax
12,00012,000 21,294 9,294Penalty and Interest on Taxes
55,60055,600 79,614 24,014Licenses and Permits

341,000341,000 159,890 (181,110)Intergovernmental Revenue and Grants
789,750789,750 838,632 48,882Charges for Services

1,7001,700 940 (760)Investment Earnings
-- 2,981 2,981Rents and Royalties
-- 75 75Contributions & Donations from Private Sources

49,10049,100 289,763 240,663Other Revenue

     Total Revenues 4,009,150 4,009,150 4,067,957 58,807

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

3,219,8002,498,202 3,279,056 (59,256)General Government
2,427,0002,230,048 2,495,421 (68,421)Public Safety
1,002,0001,301,822 1,305,280 (303,280)Public Works

100,000156,190 103,422 (3,422)Culture and Recreation
Debt Service:

115,840115,840 125,760 (9,920)Other Debt Principal
-- 2,012 (2,012)Other Debt Interest

     Total Expenditures 6,302,102 6,864,640 7,310,951 (446,311)

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues  Over (Under) 
     Expenditures

(2,292,952) (2,855,490) (3,242,994) (387,504)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES): 
10,00010,000 3,730 (6,270)Sale of Real and Personal Property

2,810,0002,810,000 3,089,471 279,471Transfers In
-- 19,247 19,247Other Resources

(100,000)(100,000) (200,000) (100,000)Transfers Out (Use)

     Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 2,720,000 2,720,000 2,912,448 192,448

Net Change in Fund Balances 427,048 (135,490) (330,546) (195,056)

Fund Balance - October 1 (Beginning) 346,489 346,489 346,489 -

Fund Balance - September 30 (Ending) $ 773,537 $ 210,999 $ 15,943 $ (195,056)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF FORT STOCKTON
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Business Type 

Activities

711

Enterprise

Fund

ASSETS

Current Assets:
900Cash and Cash Equivalents $

1,108,197Accounts Receivable-Net of Uncollectible Allowance
2,536,216Due from Other Funds

90,336Inventories

3,735,649Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets:
64,202Capitalized Debt Issuance Costs

Capital Assets:
1,579,985Land Purchase and Improvements

12,115Buildings
26,461,853Machinery and Equipment

(10,363,656)  Accumulated Depreciation - Machinery & Equipment

17,754,499Total Noncurrent Assets

Total Assets 21,490,148

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:
197,980Accounts Payable
219,997Compensated Absences Payable
14,321Intergovernmental Payable

1,596,998Due to Other Funds
251,418Due to Others

216Due to Component Unit
Bonds Payable - Current:

390,000Bonds Payable - Current

2,670,930Total Current Liabilities

NonCurrent Liabilities:
4,865,000Bonds Payable - Noncurrent
2,110,995Other Noncurrent Liabilities

6,975,995Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Liabilities 9,646,925

NET ASSETS
15,020,670Investments in Capital Assets, Net of Debt
(3,177,446)Unrestricted Net Assets

Total Net Assets 11,843,224$

 

The notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF FORT STOCKTON
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

711
Enterprise

Fund

Business Type 

Activities

OPERATING REVENUES:

2,217,181Charges for Water Services $
1,997,828Charges for Gas Services
1,108,452Charges for Sewerage Service
1,471,324Charges for Sanitation Service

126,998Charges for Landfill/Recycling
23,261Rents and Royalties
3,791Other Revenue

Total Operating Revenues 6,948,835

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Proprietary Fund Function - Water

422,132Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages
174,666Personnel Services - Employee Benefits
90,038Purchased Professional & Technical Services
7,628Purchased Property Services

87,084Other Operating Expenses
235,386Supplies

Total Proprietary Fund Function - Water 1,016,934

Proprietary Fund Function - Gas

303,464Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages
126,260Personnel Services - Employee Benefits

4,053Purchased Professional & Technical Services
10,199Purchased Property Services
24,989Other Operating Expenses

1,105,599Supplies

Total Proprietary Fund Function - Gas 1,574,564

Proprietary Fund Function - Sanitation

145,172Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages
64,203Personnel Services - Employee Benefits
16,276Purchased Property Services
8,358Other Operating Expenses

69,379Supplies

Total Proprietary Fund Function - Sanitation 303,388

Proprietary Fund Function - Sewerage

88,571Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages
30,639Personnel Services - Employee Benefits
2,287Purchased Professional & Technical Services

14,610Purchased Property Services
11,062Other Operating Expenses

128,413Supplies

Total Proprietary Fund Function - Sewerage 275,582

Proprietary Fund Function - R.O. Plant

245,684Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages
75,276Personnel Services - Employee Benefits
1,870Purchased Professional & Technical Services
1,868Purchased Property Services

 

The notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF FORT STOCKTON
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

711
Enterprise

Fund

Business Type 

Activities

7,890Other Operating Expenses
158,931Supplies

Total Proprietary Fund Function - R.O. Plant 491,519

Proprietary Fund Function - Landfill

225,236Personnel Services - Salaries and Wages
106,033Personnel Services - Employee Benefits
13,232Purchased Professional & Technical Services
70,465Purchased Property Services
22,555Other Operating Expenses
7,050Supplies

Total Proprietary Fund Function - Landfill 444,571

692,507Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses 4,799,065

Operating Income 2,149,770

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):

24Investment Earnings
678Insurance Recovery

159,438Other Non-Operating Revenues
(296,494)Interest Expense - Non-Operating

Total Non-operating Revenue (Expenses) (136,354)

Income Before Transfers 2,013,416

  
(3,409,424)Transfers Out

  
Change in Net Assets

Total Net Assets - October 1 (Beginning)

Total Net Assets  - September 30 (Ending)

(1,396,008)

13,239,232

$ 11,843,224

 

The notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF FORT STOCKTON, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Cash received from customers 6,793,295$               
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (2,680,580)                
Cash payments to employees for services (1,430,259)                

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 2,682,456                 

 Other non operating revenues
Transfers out (3,409,424)                

Net Cash Provided for Non-Capital Financing Activities (3,409,424)                

Acquisition of capital assets (3,067,684)                
Increase in due from other funds (2,536,216)                
Increase in due to other funds 1,283,096                 
Proceeds from capital debt 5,645,000                 
Bond issuance costs (70,000)                     
Principal paid on capital debt (390,000)                   
Interest paid on capital debt (290,696)                   
Payments on capital lease (5,694)                       
Labor provided to capital projects 159,438                    

Net Cash Used for Capital & Related Financing Activities 727,244                    
  

Interest and dividends on investments 24                             
Net Cash Used for Investing Activities 24                             

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 300                           

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year: 600                           

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year: 900$                         

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided by Operating Activities:

Operating Income: 2,149,770$               
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to

to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
Depreciation 692,507                    
Difference in PY depreciation 5,639                        
Insurance Recovery 678                           

Effect of Increases and Decreased in Current
Assets and Liabilities:

Decrease (Increase) in receivables (155,540)                   
Decrease (Increase) in inventories (11,584)                     
Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable (66,689)                     
Increase (Decrease) in wages and salaries payable 392                           
Increase (Decrease) in compensated absences (9,660)                       
Increase (Decrease) in utility customer deposits 7,374                        
Increase (Decrease) in intergovernmental payable 7,077                        
Increase (Decrease) in due to component Unit 216                           
Increase (Decrease) in landfill closure cost 62,276                      

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 2,682,456$               

Non-Cash Transactions: 
Value of water provided to Pecos County 

in exchange for capital contributions made in prior years 57,262$                    
Amortization of bond costs 5,798                        

The notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities:

Cash Flows from Capital & Related Financing Activities:
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Discretely Presented Component Units 



CITY OF FORT STOCKTON
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Total
Discretely

Housing Economic Economic Presented
Authority Development 4A Development 4B Component Units

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents 213,345$             586,226$               358,846$              1,158,417$           
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles) 4,438                    318,260                  -                           322,698                 
Sales Taxes Receivable -                        52,031                    52,031                  104,062                 
Due From Other Funds 1,715                    1,429                     -                       3,144                     

Capital Assets:
Land -                       204,189                -                      204,189               
Buildings & Improvements -                        8,860                     -                       8,860                     
Vehicles & Equipment 17,800                  166,743                  26,000                  210,543                 
Accumulated Depreciation (17,800)                 (3,576)                    (366)                     (21,742)                  

Total Assets 219,498               1,334,162             436,511               1,990,171            

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable and other current liabilities -                       758                      -                      758                      
Compensated Absences Payable 2,896                    29,214                    -                       32,110                   
Due to Other Funds -                        50                          -                       50                          

Total Liabilities 2,896                   30,022                  -                      32,918                 

NET ASSETS
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt -                       376,216                25,634                 401,850               

Restricted for:
Restricted for Housing 216,602                -                         -                       216,602                 
Restricted for Economic Development -                        927,924                  410,877                1,338,801              

Unrestricted Net Assets -                        -                         -                       -                         

Total Net Assets 216,602$             1,304,140$            436,511$              1,957,253$           
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CITY OF FORT STOCKTON, TEXAS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Total
Discretely

Housing Economic Economic Presented
Authority Development 4A Development 4B Component Units

REVENUES
General Sales and Use Taxes -$                      305,285$            305,285$               610,570$             
Intergovernmental Revenue and Grants 570,641               114,583             -                       685,224              
Investment Earnings 2,564                   3,444                 3,488                    9,496                  
Other Revenue -                       12,393               -                       12,393                

Total Revenues 573,205               435,705             308,773                1,317,683           

EXPENSES
Welfare 563,192               -                    -                       563,192              
Economic Development and Assistance -                       272,479             155,427                427,906              

Total Expenses 563,192               272,479             155,427                991,098              

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenses 10,013                 163,226             153,346                326,585              

OTHER FINANCING SOURSCES (USES)
Transfers to City of Fort Stockton -                       -                    (41,000)                (41,000)               

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                       -                    (41,000)                (41,000)               

Net Change in Net Assets 10,013                 163,226             112,346                285,585              

Net Assets - October 1 (Beginning) 206,589               1,140,914          324,165                1,671,668           

Net Assets - September 30 (Ending) 216,602$              1,304,140$         436,511$               1,957,253$          
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CITY OF FORT STOCKTON 
Fort Stockton, Texas 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010 
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I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The City of Fort Stockton, Texas (the "City") is a municipal corporation under the applicable laws 
and regulations of the State of Texas.  It has a Council - Manager form of government with the 
Council Members and Mayor being elected by registered voters of the City.  The City Manager is 
appointed by the City Council and serves as to the Council needs.  The Mayor presides over the 
council meetings but holds no voting power.  The City prepares its basic financial statements in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles promulgated by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Council and other authoritative sources identified in GASB Statement 56 
(GASB) of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 

 
A. Reporting Entity 

 
The public elects the Mayor and Council.  The Council has the authority to make decisions, 
appoint administrators and managers, and significantly influence operations.  They also have the 
primary accountability for fiscal matters.  As required by generally accepted accounting 
principles, the City's basic financial statements also present its Component Units.  The 
component units discussed below are included in the City's reporting entity because of the 
significance of their operational or financial relationships with the City. 

 
Discretely Presented Component Units:  The component units' columns in the government-wide 
statements of net assets and of activities include the financial data of the City's three 
component units.  They are reported in a separate column to emphasize that they are legally 
separate from the City. 

 
Fort Stockton Economic Development Corporations (4A and 4B) promotes, assists, and 
enhances economic development by encouraging employment and enhancing the public 
welfare through promotion of tourism; development of commercial, industrial, and 
manufacturing enterprises.  The Corporation's operating budget is subject to the approval 
of the City Council.  The Council is also required to approve all contracts executed and 
entered into by the Corporation. 

 
Fort Stockton Housing Authority provides low cost housing assistance to the residents of 
the City.  The Authority's operating budget is subject to the approval of the City Council.  
The Council is also required to approve all contracts executed and entered into by the 
Housing Authority. 

 



CITY OF FORT STOCKTON 
Fort Stockton, Texas 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010 
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I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 

The Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities are government-wide financial 
statements.  They report information on all of the City of Fort Stockton, Texas and its 
component unit non-fiduciary activities with most of the inter-fund activities removed. 
Governmental Activities include programs supported primarily by taxes, grants, and other inter-
governmental revenues.  Business-type activities include operations that rely to a significant 
extent on fees and charges for support. 

 
The Statement of Activities demonstrates how other people or entities that participate in 
programs the City operates have shared in the payment of the direct costs.  The "charges for 
services" column includes payments made by parties that purchase, use, or directly benefit 
from goods or services provided by a given function or segment of the City.  The "grants and 
contributions" columns include amounts paid by organizations outside the City to help meet the 
operational and capital requirements of a given function.  If revenue is not program revenue, it 
is general revenue used to support all of the City's functions.  Taxes are always general 
revenue. 

 
Inter-fund activities between governmental funds and proprietary funds appear as due to/due 
from on the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the Proprietary Fund Statement of Net 
Assets and as other resources and other uses on the governmental fund Statement of 
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance and on the Proprietary Fund 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Assets.  All inter-fund 
transactions between governmental funds are eliminated on the government-wide statements.  
Inter-fund activities between governmental funds and enterprise funds remain on the 
government-wide statements and appear on the government-wide Statement of Net Assets as 
internal balances and on the Statement of Activities as inter-fund transfers. 

 
The fund financial statements provide reports on the financial condition and results of 
operations for three fund categories - governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary.  The City 
considers some governmental and proprietary funds major and reports their financial condition 
and results of operations in a separate column. 

 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. 
Operating revenues result from providing goods and services in connection with a proprietary 
fund's principal ongoing operations; they usually come from exchange or exchange-like 
transactions.  All other revenues are non-operating.  Operating expenses can be tied 
specifically to the production of the goods and services, such as materials, labor, and direct 
overhead.  Other expenses are non-operating. 
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I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
 

The government-wide financial statements use the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting, as do the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues are 
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of 
timing of the related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for 
which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all 
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

 
Governmental fund financial statements use the current financial resources measurement focus 
and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  With this measurement focus, only current 
assets, current liabilities, and fund balances are included on the balance sheet. Operating 
statements of these funds present net increases and decreases in current assets (i.e., 
revenues and other financing resources and expenditures and other financing uses). 

 
The modified accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenues in the accounting period in 
which they become both measurable and available, and it recognizes expenditures in the 
accounting period in which the fund liability is incurred, if measurable, except for un-matured 
interest and principal on long-term debt, which is recognized when due.  The expenditures 
related to certain compensated absences and claims and judgments are recognized when the 
obligations are expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources.  The 
City considers all revenues available if they are collectible within 60 days after year-end. 

 
Revenues from local sources consist primarily of property taxes and sales taxes.  Property tax, 
sales tax, and revenues received from the State are recognized under the "susceptible to 
accrual" concept, that is, when they are both measurable and available. The City considers 
them "available" if they will be collected within 60 days of the end of the fiscal year.  
Miscellaneous revenues are recorded as revenue when received in cash because they are 
generally not measurable until actually received.  Investment earnings are recorded as earned, 
since they are both measurable and available. 

 
Grant funds are considered to be earned to the extent of expenditures made under the 
provisions of the grant.  Accordingly, when such funds are received, they are recorded as 
deferred revenues until related and authorized expenditures have been made.  If the balance 
has not been expended by the end of the project period, grantors sometimes require the city to 
refund all or part of the unused amount. 
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I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

The Proprietary Fund Types are accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement 
focus and utilize the accrual basis of accounting.  This basis of accounting recognizes 
revenues in the accounting period in which they are earned and become measurable and 
expenses in the accounting period in which they are incurred and become measurable.  The 
City applies all Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements.  With this 
measurement focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with the operations of these funds 
are included on the fund Statement of Net Assets.  The fund equity is segregated into (1) 
investments in capital assets, net of related debt and (2) unrestricted net assets. 

 
All business-type activities and enterprise funds of the City follow FASB Statements and 
Interpretations issued on or before November 30, 1989; Accounting Principles Board Opinions; 
and Accounting Research Bulletins, unless those pronouncements conflict with GASB 
pronouncements. 

 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Government's 
policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

 
D. Fund Accounting 

 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

 
General Fund – The general fund is the City's primary operating fund.  It accounts for all 
financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

 
Convention Visitors Bureau – The Convention Visitors Bureau is a special revenue fund 
used to account for hotel/motel occupancy tax revenue and related expenditures to 
promote tourism. 

 
Debt Service Fund – The City accounts for resources accumulated and payments made for 
principal and interest on long-term general obligation debt of governmental funds in a debt 
service fund. 

 
2008 and 2009 Series Capital Project – The 2008 and 2009 Series funds are capital 
project funds used to account for capital improvements finance with the 2008 and 2009 
Series Certificates of Obligations. 
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I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 
 

Enterprise Fund – The City consolidated its Enterprise funds into one fund.  The Enterprise 
fund revenues and expenses are related to providing, gas, water, and sewer and sanitation 
services to the residents and businesses of the City.  Revenues and expenses arising from 
capital and non-capital financing activities and from investing activities are presented as 
non-operating revenues or expenses. 

 
E. Other Accounting Policies 

 
1. The City's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand 

deposits, and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the 
date of acquisition. 

 
2. In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund 

financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 
liabilities in the applicable governmental activities or business-type activities columns of the 
governmental-wide statement of net assets, and as appropriate in the proprietary fund type 
financial statement of net assets. 

 
3. It is the City's policy to permit full-time employees to accumulate earned but unused 

vacation and sick pay benefits.  These employees may accumulate up to 160 hours of 
unused vacation benefits and up to 720 hours of unused sick leave benefits.  Unused sick 
leave benefits will not be paid to the employees upon resignation or termination of 
employment.  However, upon retirement from the City or death of the employee, 
employees or heirs will be compensated for the total hours of accumulated sick leave up to 
the maximum of 720 hours at the then current base salary rate of said employee. 

 
All vacation, sick leave, and comp time benefits for the governmental funds are reported as 
a long-term liability on the government-wide financial statements.  In the Proprietary Fund, 
the accumulated vacation and sick leave benefits are reported as a liability on the 
proprietary fund statement of net assets. 

 
4. The City is required to report a landfill closure and post-closure cost as a liability to the 

City.  This liability is based on the total cost it would take to close the landfill based on the 
percent of the landfill that is currently being used, and an inflation factor.  This liability is not 
reported on the governmental fund financial statements, but it is reported as a long-term 
liability on the government-wide statement of net assets. 
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I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

5. Capital assets, which include land, buildings, furniture and equipment, and infrastructure, are 
reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the 
government-wide financial statements.  The City defines capital assets as assets with an 
initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life of two or more 
years.  Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased 
or constructed.  Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the 
date of donation. 

 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend assets lives are not capitalized.  Major outlays for capital assets and 
improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.  For purposes of presentation the 
proprietary fund systems, machinery, and equipment are reported as one classification. 

 
Buildings, furniture, and equipment of the City and its component unit are depreciated 
using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

 
Assets Years 

Buildings 50 
Building Improvements 15 
Infrastructure 20 to 50 
Water & Sewer System 15 to 75 
Office Equipment 5 to 10 
Computer Equipment 5 to 10 

 
 
II. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 

A. Budgetary Data 
 

The City Council adopts an "appropriated budget" for the General Fund and Debt Service 
Fund and a budget for all other funds.  The City is required to present the adopted and final 
amended budgeted revenues and expenditures for each appropriated budget.  The City 
compares the final amended budget to actual revenues and expenditures.  The General Fund 
Budget report appears in Exhibit C-5 and the Debt Service Fund Budget report appears in 
Exhibit J-1. 

 
The following procedures are followed in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the basic 
financial statements: 

 
1. Prior to September 20, the City prepares a budget for the next succeeding fiscal year 

beginning October 1.  The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the 
means of financing them. 
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II. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 

2. A meeting of the City Council is then called for the purpose of adopting the proposed 
budget.  At least ten days' public notice of the meeting must be given. 

 
3. Prior to October 1, the Council legally enacts the budget through passage of a resolution. 

Once a budget is approved, it can only be amended at the function and fund level by 
approval of a majority of the members of the Council.  Amendments are presented to the 
Council at its regular meetings.  Each amendment must have Council approval.  As 
required by law, such amendments are made before the fact, are reflected in the official 
minutes of the Council, and are not made after fiscal year-end.  The City had budget 
amendments during the fiscal year, and a few were significant due to higher than expected 
sales tax collections. 

 
 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS 
 

A. Deposits and Investments 
 

The City's cash deposits at September 30, 2010, were covered by FDIC insurance, or by 
pledged collateral held by the City's agent bank in Fort Stockton, Texas. 

 
As of September 30, 2010, the cash and cash equivalents were as follows: 

 
Cash on Hand $           1,500
 
Deposits 4,562,988
 
Short Term Investments 201,921
 $    4,766,409

 
City Policies and Legal and Contractual Provisions Governing Deposits 

 
Custodial Credit Risk for Deposits – State law requires governmental entities to contract 
with financial institutions in which funds will be deposited to secure those deposits with 
insurance or pledged securities with a fair value equaling or exceeding the amount on 
deposit at the end of each business day.  The pledged securities must be in the name of the 
governmental entity and held by the entity or its agent bank.  Since the City complies with 
this law, there is no custodial credit risk for deposits. 

 
Foreign Currency Risk – The City has no investments or deposits of a foreign currency. 

 
City Policies and Legal and Contractual Provisions Governing Investments 
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

Compliance with the Public Funds Investment Act 
 

The Public Funds Investment Act (Government Code Chapter 2256) contains specific 
provisions in the areas of investment practices, management reports, and establishment of 
appropriate policies.  Among other things, it requires the City to adopt, implement, and 
publicize an investment policy.  That policy must address the following areas:  (1) safety or 
principal and liquidity, (2) portfolio diversification, (3) allowable investments, (4) acceptable 
risk levels, (5) expected rates of return, (6) maximum allowable stated maturity of portfolio 
investments, (7) maximum average dollar-weighted maturity allowed based on the stated 
maturity date for the portfolio, (8) investment staff quality and capabilities, (9) and bid 
solicitation preferences for certificates of deposit. 

 
Statutes authorize the City to invest in (1) obligations of the U.S. Treasury, certain U.S. 
agencies, and the State of Texas, (2) certificates of deposit, (3) certain municipal 
securities, (4) money market savings accounts, (5) repurchase agreements, (6) bankers 
acceptances, (7) mutual funds, (8) investment pools, (9) guaranteed investment contracts, 
(10) and common trust funds.  The Act also requires the City to have independent auditors 
perform test procedures related to investment practices as provided by the Act.  The City is 
in substantial compliance with the requirements of the Act and with local policies. 

 
The City short-term investments consist of balances in accounts with TexPool and LOGIC 
in the amount of $201,921 at September 30, 2010. 

 
The State Comptroller of Public Accounts oversees TexPool, while Lehman Brothers and 
Federated Investors manage the daily operations of the pool under a contract with the 
Comptroller.  TexPool is managed conservatively to provide a safe, efficient, and liquid 
investment alternative to Texas governments.  The pools seek to maintain a $1.00 value 
per share as required by the Texas Public Funds Investment Act.  TexPool investments 
consist exclusively of U.S. Government securities, repurchase agreements collateralized by 
U.S. Government Securities, and AAA-rated no-load money market mutual funds. TexPool 
is rated AAAm by Standard & Poor's, the highest rating a local government investment 
pool can achieve.  The weighted average maturities of the pool cannot exceed 60 days, 
with the maximum maturity of any investment limited to 13 months.  TexPool, like its 
participants, is governed by the Texas Public Funds Investment Act and is in full 
compliance with the Act. 
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

Local Government Investment Cooperative (LOGIC) is a local government investment pool 
organized under the authority of the Interlocal Cooperation Act, chapter 791, Texas 
Government Code, and the Public Funds Investment Act, chapter 2256, Texas 
Government Code.  The Pool was created in April 1994 through a contract among its 
participating governmental units, and is governed by a board of directors, to provide for the 
joint investment of participant's public funds and funds under their control.  The purpose of 
LOGIC is to offer a safe, efficient, and liquid investment alternative to local governments in 
the State of Texas so that they may benefit from, and realize, a higher investment return by 
utilizing economies of scale and professional investment expertise.  It is the policy of 
LOGIC to invest pooled assets in a manner that will provide for preservation and safety of 
principal and competitive investment returns while meeting the daily liquidity needs of the 
participants.  LOGIC is rated AAAm by Standard & Poor's.  The Fund has extremely strong 
capacity to maintain principal stability and to limit exposure to principal losses due to credit, 
market, and/or liquidity risks.  AAAm is Standard & Poor's highest principal stability fund 
rating and is based on an analysis of the fund's investment portfolio and guidelines, market 
price exposure, and management.  LOGIC has a conservative investment policy, which is 
consistent with Rule 2a-7 money market practices.  To ensure an accurate and current 
rating, Standard & Poor's reviews pertinent fund information, including the fund's portfolio 
holdings, on a weekly basis. 

 
Component Units 

 
Component unit cash balances were all held at the Depository Bank and were FDIC insured 
throughout the year.  The balances as of September 30, 2010 were as follows: 

 
Component Unit Balance 

 
City of Fort Stockton Housing Authority $        213,415
 
City of Fort Stockton 4A – EDC 586,226
 
City of Fort Stockton 4B – EDC 358,846
 
Total $     1,158,417

 
B. Property Taxes 

 
Property taxes are levied by October 1 on the assessed value listed as of the prior January 1 for 
all real and business personal property located in the City in conformity with Subtitle E, Texas 
Property Tax Code.  Taxes are due on receipt of the tax bill and are delinquent if not paid 
before February 1 of the year following the year in which imposed.  On January 31 of each 
year, a tax lien attaches to property to secure the payment of all taxes, penalties, and interest 
ultimately imposed.  Property tax revenues are considered available (1) when they become 
due or past due and receivable within the current period and (2) when they are expected to be 
collected during a 60-day period after the close of the fiscal year. 
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

C. Delinquent Taxes Receivable 
 

Delinquent taxes are prorated between maintenance and debt service based on rates adopted 
for the year of the levy.  Allowance for uncollectible tax receivables within the General and 
Debt Service Funds are based on historical experience in collecting property taxes.  
Uncollectible personal property taxes are periodically reviewed and written off, but the City is 
prohibited from writing off real property taxes without specific statutory authority from the 
Texas Legislature. 

 
D. Interfund Transfers and Balances 

 
Inter-fund transfers for the year ended September 30, 2010, consist of the following: 

 
Transfer From Transfer To Amount Purpose

General Fund Recreation Department 100,000$         General Fund's contribution to Inter-Gov. Recreation
HB 445 Fund (General) General Fund 100,000 Administrative Fees provided by General Fund
CVB Fund Debt Service Fund 284,637 Debt Service Payment
Enterprise Fund General Fund 2,989,471 Administrative Fees provided by General Fund
Enterprise Fund Debt Service Fund 419,953 Debt Service Payment
Component Unit Debt Service Fund 41,000 Debt Service Payment

Total Transfers 3,935,061$      
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

Inter-fund balances at September 30, 2010, consist of the following: 
 
 

Due From Due To Purpose
General Fund:

Special Revenue Fund 35,844$          11,903$          Current Operations
Enterprise Fund 1,175,093      -                 Current Operations
Debt Service Fund 76,739           -                 Current Operations
Capital Project Fund -                 1,404,634      Current Operations
Component Unit -                 1,715             Current Operations

Total - General Fund 1,287,676      1,418,252      

Other Non-Major
Special Revenue Funds:
   General Fund -                 32,982           Current Operations
   Enterprise Fund 76,160           15,045           Current Operations
   Component Unit 50                  -                 Current Operations

Total - Special Revenue Fund 76,210           48,027           

Major Special  Revenue Funds
(Convention Visitor's Bureau):
   General Fund 11,903           2,862             Current Operations
   Enterprise Fund 237,234         -                 Current Operations
   Component Unit -                 1,213             Current Operations

Total - Special Revenue Fund 249,137         4,075             

Debt Service Fund:
General Fund -                 76,739           Current Operations
Enterprise Fund 108,333         -                 Current Operations

Total - Debt Service Fund 108,333         76,739           

Capital Projects Fund:
Enterprise Fund 177                2,521,171      Current Operations
General Fund 1,404,635      -                 Current Operations

Total - Capital Projects Fund 1,404,812      2,521,171      

Enterprise Funds:
General Fund -                 1,175,093      Current Operations
Special Revenue Fund 15,045           313,394         Current Operations
Debt Service Fund 2,521,171      108,333         Current Operations
Capital Projects Fund -                 177                Current Operations
Component Unit -                 216                Current Operations

Total - Enterprise Funds 2,536,216      1,597,213      

Component Units:
General Fund 1,715             -                 Current Operations
Special Revenue Fund 1,213             50                  Current Operations
Enterprise Fund 216                -                 Current Operations

Total - Component Units 3,144             50                  

TOTALS 5,665,528$     5,665,527$     
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

E. Disaggregation of Receivables 
 

Receivables at September 30, 2010 were as follows: 
 

Proprietary Fund
Other Total

General Governmental Governmental Enterprise

Accounts -$                 135$                135$                1,230,396$          
Notes -                   32,377             32,377             -                       
EMS 2,307,828        -                   2,307,828        -                       
Court Fines 609,099           -                   609,099           -                       
Electric Overpay 197,345           -                   197,345           -                       
Other 47,259             -                   47,259             -                       

Total Receivables 3,161,531 32,512 3,194,043 1,230,396

Allowance for 
  Doubtful Accounts (2,089,902) (27,004)            (2,116,906) (122,199)

Receivables, Net 1,071,629$      5,508$             1,077,137$      1,108,197$          

Governmental Funds

 
 

Component Units 
 

Receivables 
 

The Receivables for the component units are reported as follows: 
 

Housing Authority 
 

Receivables of the Housing Authority consist of amounts due from participant’s for 
overpayments of housing assistance in the amount of $4,438. 
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

Economic Development 4A 
 

Receivable of the Economic Development 4A component unit consists of loans receivable 
from local individuals and business that were for economic development purposes.  The 
receivable balances and allowance for doubtful collection are as follows: 

 
Other

Governmental
Notes 52,031$           
Sales Taxes 368,260           

Total Receivables 420,291

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (50,000)            
Receivables, Net 370,291$         

 
 

F. Capital Asset Activity 
 

Capital asset activity for the City for the year ended September 30, 2010 was as follows: 
 

Governmental Activities 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Retirements Balance

Capital Assets, not being Depreciated:
Land 475,948$            -$                 -$                 475,948$          
Construction in Progress 335,441              6,889               261,231           81,099              

Total Capital Assets, not being Depreciated 811,389              6,889               261,231           557,047            

Capital Assets, being Depreciated:
Buildings & Improvements 1,589,274           3,495,693        -                   5,084,967         
Machinery & Equipment 9,451,015           354,169           -                   9,805,184         
Infrastructure 69,045,913         189,287 -                   69,235,200       

Total Capital Assets being Depreciated 80,897,591 4,046,038 261,231 84,682,398

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation
Buildings & Improvements (1,148,725) (49,722) -                   (1,198,447)        
Machinery & Equipment (6,373,686) (684,483) 305                  (7,057,864)        
Infrastructure (67,465,751) (65,119) -                   (67,530,870)      

Total Accumulated Depreciation (74,988,162) (799,324) 305                  (75,787,181)

Govermental Activities
Total Capital Assets - Net 5,909,429$         3,246,714$      261,536$         8,895,217$       
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

Business-type Activities 
 

 
 

Depreciation expense was charged to governmental activities functions as follows: 

 
 

Governmental
Function Activities

General Government 221,604$                  
Public Safety 340,038                    
Public Works 175,735                    
Culture & Recreation 47,269                      
Conservation & Development 14,678                      

Total Depreciation 799,324$                  

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Retirements Balance

Capital Assets, not being Depreciated:
Land 1,579,985$          -$                   -$                    1,579,985$         

Total Capital Assets, not being Depreciated 1,579,985            -                     -                      1,579,985           

Capital Assets, being Depreciated:
Buildings & Improvements 12,115                 -                     -                      12,115                
Systems, Machinery & Equipment 23,394,168          3,062,044           (5,641)                 26,461,853         
Construction in Progress -                       -                     -                      -                      

Total Capital Assets, not being Depreciated 23,406,283 3,062,044 (5,641) 26,473,968

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation
Buildings & Improvements -                       (807) (279) (1,086)                 
Systems, Machinery & Equipment (9,665,508) (691,700.00)       (5,362)                 (10,362,570)        

Total Accumulated Depreciation (9,665,508) (692,507) (5,641) (10,363,656)

Governmental Activities
Total Capital Assets, Net 15,320,760$        2,369,537$         (11,282)$             17,690,297$       
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

Component Units 
 

Capital Assets 
 

Housing Authority 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Retirements Balance

Capital Assets, being Depreciated:
Machinery & Equipment 17,800$              -$                   -$                    17,800$             

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation
Machinery & Equipment (17,800) -                     -                      (17,800)              

Govermental Activities
Total Capital Assets - Net -$                    -$                   -$                    -$                   

 
 
 

4A – Economic Development Corporation 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Retirements Balance

Capital Assets, not being Depreciated:
Land 204,189$            -$                 -$                 204,189$          

Capital Assets, being Depreciated:
Buildings & Improvements 8,860                  -                   -                   8,860                
Machinery & Equipment -                      166,743           -                   166,743            

Total Capital Assets being Depreciated 8,860 166,743 -                   175,603

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation
Buildings & Improvements (640) (591) -                   (1,231)               
Machinery & Equipment -                      (2,345)              -                   (2,345)               

Total Accumulated Depreciation (640) (2,936) -                   (3,576)

Govermental Activities
Total Capital Assets - Net 8,220$                163,807$         -$                 172,027$          

 
 



CITY OF FORT STOCKTON 
Fort Stockton, Texas 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010 

 
 

41 

III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

4B – Economic Development Corporation 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Retirements Balance

Capital Assets, being Depreciated:
Machinery & Equipment -$                 26,000$           -$                 26,000$            

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation
Machinery & Equipment -                   (366) -                   (366)                  
Total Capital Assets - Net -$                 25,634$           -$                 25,634$            

 
 
 

G. Long-Term Debt 
 

Changes in long-term debt during the year ended September 30, 2010 is as follows: 

 
 

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Deductions Balance One Year

Governmental Activities
Bonds Payable
    Certificates of Obligation - 2005 1,865,000$        -$                    145,000$           1,720,000$       150,000$          
    Certificates of Obligation - 2008 6,935,000          -                      230,000             6,705,000         240,000            
    Certificates of Obligation - 2009 -                     2,255,000           180,000             2,075,000         180,000            

Total Bonds Payable 8,800,000          2,255,000           555,000             10,500,000       570,000            

Capital Leases 400,188             -                      132,115             268,073            107,296            
Vacation Payable 159,243             -                      24,701               134,542            134,542            
Accumulated Unused Sick Leave 293,837             -                      74,559               219,278            -                    
Net OPEB Obligation -                     272,350              107,487             164,863            -                    

Governmental Activity Long Term Debt 9,653,268          2,527,350           893,862             11,286,756       811,838            
 

Business-type Activities
Certificates of Obligation -                     5,645,000           390,000             5,255,000         390,000            
Capital Leases 5,694                 -                      5,694                 -                    -                    
Compensated Absences 229,655             -                      9,658                 219,997            219,997            
Landfill Closure/Post-Closure Costs 2,048,719          62,276                -                     2,110,995         -                    

Business-type Activity Long Term Debt 2,284,068$        5,707,276$         405,352$           7,585,992$       609,997$          
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

H. Bonds 
 

In 2005, the City issued Series 2005 Certificates of Obligation with an original face value of 
$2,000,000 at an annual interest rate of 5.00%.  Interest is due semi-annually on February 15 
and August 15, and the principal is due each year on February 15.  In 2009, the City issued 
Series 2008 Certificates of Obligation with an original face value of $6,945,000 at an annual 
interest rate of 4.85%.  Interest is due semiannually on March 15 and September 15, and the 
principal is due each year on March 15.  In 2010, the City issued Series 2009 Certificates of 
Obligation with an original face value of $7,900,000 at an annual interest rate of 5.49% to 
6.15%.  Interest is due semiannually on March 15, and September 15, and the principal is due 
each year on March 15.  $3,955,000 of the Series 2009 Certificates of Obligation are 
supported by water revenue and $1,690,000 are supported by sanitation/landfill revenue 
accordingly, that portion of the bonds are reported as business-type activity over the length of 
the bond issuance.  The cost of issuance will be amortized over the life of the governmental 
activity portion $17,741 (10 years) approximately $1,774 annually.  The business-type activity 
portion $70,000 will be amortized over 17 years (water) and 7 years (sanitation/landfill) in the 
amounts of $2,941 and $2,857, respectively. 

 
The unamortized bond issuance costs as of September 30, 2010 were as follows: 

 
Governmental Activities $       15,967
 
Business-type Activities 64,202
 
 $       80,169

 
The ordinances authorizing the issuance of both series each require that a minimum balance of 
2.00% of the original issue be maintained in the sinking funds at all times.  The minimum 
balance required is $336,900.  At September 30, 2010, the balance maintained in the sinking 
funds was $16,042.  Bond principal and interest payments are paid through the Debt Service 
Fund and in the current year were paid by Convention and Visitors Bureau Fund for certain 
Government Activity debt and the Utility fund for Business-Type Activity debt. 

 
 
 
(Continued) 
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

Debt service requirements on long-term debt at September 30, 2010, are as follows: 
 

Governmental Activities 
 

 
Business-type Activities 

 

 

Fiscal
Year-End Principal Interest Total

2011 390,000$            288,903$              678,903$             
2012 410,000              266,943                676,943               
2013 435,000              243,748                678,748               
2014 460,000              219,180                679,180               
2015 485,000              193,239                678,239               

2016-2020 1,505,000           657,055                2,162,055            
2021-2025 1,265,000           295,953                1,560,953            

2026 305,000              9,379                    314,379               

Totals 5,255,000$         2,174,400$           7,429,400$          

Fiscal
Year-End Principal Interest Total

2011 570,000$            516,443$              1,086,443$          
2012 605,000              486,766                1,091,766            
2013 635,000              455,434                1,090,434            
2014 675,000              422,310                1,097,310            
2015 710,000              387,257                1,097,257            

2016-2020 3,600,000           1,345,842             4,945,842            
2021-2025 2,145,000           648,326                2,793,326            
2026-2028 1,560,000           115,915                1,675,915            

Totals 10,500,000$       4,378,293$           14,878,293$        
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

I. Capital Leases 
 

The City leases various pieces of equipment.  Principal and interest requirements for future 
periods are as follows: 

 

 
Capital lease and interest payments are made through the respective fund where the asset is 
assigned, which are the General fund for Governmental activities and the Enterprise fund for 
Business-Type activities. 

 
J. Accumulated Unpaid Vacation and Sick Leave Benefits 

 
Upon termination of employment, the City pays employees for any unused vacation leave that 
has been earned through the last day of work.  Each regular full-time employee may 
accumulate up to a maximum of 160 hours of unused vacation leave, of which only 80 hours 
may be carried over at the end of the calendar year.  The liability due within one year 
accumulated unused vacation leave and compensatory time at September 30, 2010, is 
$134,543 in the governmental funds, and $67,415 in the proprietary funds. 

 
Upon retirement from the City or death of the employee, employees or heirs will be 
compensated for the total hours of accumulated sick leave up to a maximum of 720 hours at 
the then current base salary rate of said employee.  The amount of accumulated unused sick 
leave at September 30, 2010, is $219,178 in the Governmental Activities and $152,582 in the 
proprietary funds. 

 
A Net OPEB obligation of $164,863 is reported as of September 30, 2010.  For additional 
information see the Other Post Employment Benefits footnote on page 44. 

 

Fiscal
Year-End Principa l Interest Tota l

2011 107,296$         12,661$           119,957$         
2012 77,983             7,525               85,508             
2013 82,794             2,715               85,509             

Totals 268,073$        22,901$          290,974$        
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

K. Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
 

Plan Description:  The City provides pension benefits for all of its eligible employees through a 
non-traditional, joint contributory, hybrid defined benefit plan in the state-wide Texas Municipal 
Retirement System (TMRS), an agent multiple-employer public employee retirement system. 
The plan provisions that have been adopted by the city are within the options available in the 
governing state statutes of TMRS. 

 
TMRS issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial 
statements and required supplementary information (RSI) for TMRS; the report also provides 
detailed explanations of the contributions, benefits and actuarial methods and assumptions 
used by the System.  This report may be obtained by writing to TMRS, P.O. Box 149153, 
Austin, TX 78714-9153 or by calling 800-924-8677; in addition, the report is available on 
TMRS’ website at www.TMRS.com. 

 
The plan provisions are adopted by the governing body of the City, within the options available 
in the state statutes governing TMRS.  Plan provisions for the City were as follows: 

 
 Plan Year 2009 Plan Year 2010 
Employee deposit rate 5.0% 5.0% 
Matching ratio (city to employee) 2 to 1 2 to 1 
Years required for vesting 5 5 
Service retirement eligibility (age / 
years of service) 

 
60/5,0/20 

 
60/5,0/20 

Updated Service Credit 100% Repeating, Transfers 100% Repeating, Transfers 
Annuity Increase (to retirees) 70% of CPI Repeating 70% of CPI Repeating 
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Contributions:  Under the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each city is 
determined annually by the actuary, using the Projected Unit Credit actuarial cost method.  
This rate consists of the normal cost contribution rate and the prior service cost contribution 
rate, which is calculated to be a level percent of payroll from year to year.  The normal cost 
contribution rate finances the portion of an active member’s projected benefit allocated 
annually; the prior service contribution rate amortizes the unfunded (overfunded) actuarial 
liability (asset) over the applicable period for that city.  Both the normal cost and prior service 
contribution rates include recognition of the projected impact of annually repeating benefits, 
such as Updated Service Credits and Annuity Increases.  The City contributes to the TMRS 
Plan at an actuarially determined rate.  Both the employees and the City make contributions 
monthly.  Since the City needs to know its contribution rate in advance for budgetary 
purposes, there is a one-year delay between the actuarial valuation that serves as the basis 
for the rate and the calendar year when the rate goes into effect. 

 
The required contribution rates for fiscal year 2010 were determined as part of the December 
31, 2007 and 2008 actuarial valuations.  Additional information as of the latest actuarial 
valuation, December 31, 2009, also follows: 

 
Valuation Date 12/31/2007 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 
Actuarial Cost Method Projected Unit Credit Projected Unit Credit Projected Unit Credit 

Amortization Method Level Percent of Payroll Level Percent of Payroll Level Percent of Payroll 

GASB 25 Equivalent Single 
    Amortization Period 

 
30 years; closed period 

 
29 years; closed period 

 
28 years; closed period 

Amortization Period for new 
    Gains/Losses 30 years 30 years 30 years 

Asset Valuation Method Amortized Cost Amortized Cost 10-year Smoothed Market 

Actuarial Assumptions: 
    Investment Rate of Return * 
    Projected Salary Increases * 

 
7.00% 

Varies by age and service 

 
7.50% 

Varies by age and service 

 
7.50% 

Varies by age and service 
*  Includes Inflation at    

 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 

Cost-of-Living Adjustments 2.10% 2.10% 2.10% 
 



CITY OF FORT STOCKTON 
Fort Stockton, Texas 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010 

 
 

47 

III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 
 

Schedule of Actuarial Liabilities and Funding Progress 
 

 
Trend Information for the Retirement Plan for the Employees of the City of Fort Stockton, 
Texas. 

 
Accounting 

Year 
Ending 

Annual 
Pension 

Cost (APC) 

Percentage 
of APC 

Contributed 

Net 
Pension 

Obligation 
 

9/30/2010 $    563,881 100% $    - 
 

9/30/2009 $    384,415 100% $    - 
 

9/30/2008 $    220,621 100% $    - 
 
 

L. Post Employment Benefits 
 

The City has established a retiree health insurance plan and has prospectively implemented 
GASB 45 Accounting and Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits other an 
pensions. 

 
1. Plan Description 

 
The City of Fort Stockton purchases retiree and employee health insurance.  The City 
administers a single employer defined benefit post employment healthcare plan that covers 
33 qualified retired City employees and their dependents and 105 active employees.  
Participation in the Plan is elective by each retiree.  Healthcare benefits include, but are 
not limited to, prescription drugs, hospitalization, and preventive care.  To be eligible, the 
retiree must meet the requirements for retirement. 

 

Actuarial Valuation Date 12/31/2009
Actuar ial Value of Assets 4,471,869$       
Actuar ial Accrued Liability 7,990,335         
Percentage Funded 55.97%
Unfunded (Over-Funded) Actuarial Accrued L iability (UAAL) 3,518,466         
Annual Covered Payroll 4,054,468         
UAAL as a Percentage of Covered Payroll 86.80%
Net Pension Obliga tions (NPO) at the Beginning  o f the Period -                    

Contribution by the City 563,881            
Employee Contributions 233,347            
Retirem ent Payments 106,941            
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For a retiree to qualify for the City-paid health plan, a retiree must meet the following 
criteria: 

 
a. City will continue to pay 100% of the employee costs for the retiree’s coverage. 

 
b. Coverage will only be allowed for those employees being of any age and having 20 

years of service with the City at the time they retire or for TMRS employees with 5 
years of service and attaining the age of 60. 

 
c. Coverage will be allowed to age 65 or when the retiree becomes eligible for Medicare 

or Medicaid.  At that point, the retiree and/or their dependents will no longer be eligible 
for the group coverage. 

 
Additionally, the benefit provisions are subject to change at any time and to annual 
appropriation of funds by the City Council.  Currently, the City is accounting for OPEB 
using the general fund.  A separate financial report for the healthcare plan is not issued. 

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
The Plan’s transactions are recorded using the accrual basis of accounting.  Plan 
members’ and employer’s contributions are recognized in the period in which the 
contributions are due.  Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable.  
Investments, if any, are reported at fair value which is the amount the Plan could 
reasonably expect to receive for it in a current sale between a willing buyer and a willing 
seller.  Fair value, for financial reporting, purposes, is measured by the market price unless 
such prices are not available, in which case, fair value is estimated. 

 
3. Funding Policy 

 
City Council has the authority to establish and amend contribution requirements of the plan 
members and the City.  The plan is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis and incurred 
$107,487 in total claims for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010.  The funds to pay 
these claims are derived from employer contributions and retiree premiums.  The following 
table presents the monthly premium amounts paid by retirees based on their classification. 

 
Under Age 65   Age 65  

 
Participant 

Contribution 
Per Retiree 

  
Participant 

Contribution 
Per Retiree 

Single Retiree $        -  Single Retiree $        - 
Two Party Retiree 360  Two Party Retiree 122
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4. Annual OPEB Cost 
 

The City’s annual OPEB cost is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the 
employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameter of 
GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level of accrual that is projected to 
recognize the normal cost each year and to amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or 
funding excess) over a period not to exceed thirty years. The annual OPEB cost for the 
fiscal year ending September 30, 2010, is as follows: 

 
Annual Required Contribution $       272,350
Interest on OPEB Obligation - 
Adjustment to ARC - 
Annual OPEB Cost (Expense) End of Year 272,350
Contributions Made 107,487
Increase in Net OPEB Obligation 164,863
Net OPEB Obligation – Beginning of Year - 
Net OPEB Obligation – End of Year $         164,863

 
The City’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, 
and the net OPEB obligation for fiscal year ending September 30, 2010 and the preceding 
two fiscal years were as follows: 

 
 
 

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

 
 

Annual 
OPEB Cost 

 
Employer 
Amount 

Contributed 

Percentage 
Of Annual 

OPEB Cost 
Contributed 

 
Net OPEB 
Obligation 

Ending 
   
 
September 30, 2008 

 
$               N/A $               N/A N/A 

 
$               N/A 

 
September 30, 2009 

 
$               N/A $               N/A N/A 

 
$               N/A 

 
September 30, 2010 

 
$        272,350 $        107,487   39.50% 

 
$        164,863 
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5. Funded Status and Funding Progress 
 

The funded status of the City’s retiree health care plan, under GASB Statement No. 45 as 
of September 30, 2010 is as follows:  

 
Actuarial 

Valuation Date 
as of 

September 30  

 
Actuarial Value 

of Assets 
(a)  

Actuarial 
Accrued 

Liability (AAL)  
(b)  

 
Unfunded AAL  

(UAAL)  
(b-a)  

 
 

Funded Ratio 
(a/b)  

 
2010   $         - $       2,966,235 $       2,966,235 0% 

 
Under the reporting parameters, the City’s retiree health care plan is 0% funded with an 
estimated actuarial accrued liability exceeding actuarial assets by $2,966,235 at 
September 30, 2010.  

 
6. Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

 
The Projected Unit Credit actuarial cost method is used to calculate the GASB ARC for the 
City’s retiree health care plan. Using the plan benefits, the present health premiums and a 
set of actuarial assumptions, the anticipated future payments are projected. The projected 
unit credit method then provides for a systematic recognition of the cost of these 
anticipated payments. The yearly ARC is computed to cover the cost of benefits being 
earned by covered members as well as to amortize a portion of the unfunded accrued 
liability.  

 
Projections of health benefits are based on the plan as understood by the City and include 
the types of benefits in force at the valuation date and the pattern of sharing benefit costs 
between the City and its employees to that point. Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term 
perspective and employ methods and assumptions that are designed to reduce short-term 
volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets. Significant 
methods and assumptions were as follows: 

 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

 
Inflation rate  3.00% per annum  
Investment rate of return  4.50%, net of expenses  
Actuarial cost method  Projected Unit Credit Cost Method  
Amortization method  Level as a percentage of employee payroll  
Amortization period  30-year open amortization  
Payroll Growth  3.00% per annum  
Healthcare cost trend rate  Initial rate of 9.0% declining to an ultimate 

rate of 4.50% after 9 years  
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Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions 
about the probability of events in the future. Amounts determined regarding the funded 
status and the annual required contributions of the City’s retiree health care plan are 
subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new 
estimates are made about the future. The required schedule of funding progress presented 
as required supplementary information provides multiyear trend information that shows 
whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to 
the actuarial accrued liability for benefits.  

 
M. Deferred Revenue 

 
Deferred revenue at September 30, 2010 consisted of the following: 

 
N. Litigation 

 
Management is not aware of any significant pending or threatened litigation at September 30, 
2010. 

 
O. Other Commitments and Contingencies 

 
Management of the City was not aware of any significant contingencies at September 30, 
2010. 

 

Debt Service
General Fund Funds Other  Funds Total

Net Tax Revenue 28,887$        12,591$        -$              41,478$         
Mun icipal Court Fines 365,459 -                -                365,459
EMS Receivab les 461,566 -                -                461,566
Unearned Grants -                -                765               765
Rehab Loans -                -                5,373            5,373

Total 855,912$      12,591$        6,138$          874,641$       
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P. Municipal Solid Waste Landfill 
 

State and federal laws and regulations require the City to place a final cover on its landfill upon 
closure and perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for 30 years after 
final closure.  The closure and post-closure costs at September 30, 2010 is $2,110,995 and is 
reported as landfill closure and post-closure care liability in the utility fund.  The landfill is 
estimated to be used at 81.76% of capacity and is estimated to be closed in 13 years. 

 
These amounts are based on what it is estimated by professional engineers to be the cost to 
perform all closure and post-closure care in the fiscal year ending September 30, 2010.  The 
City expects to close the landfill around the year 2023.  Actual costs may be more due to 
inflation, changes in technology, or changes in regulations. 

 
On April 9, 1997, the Financial Responsibility Requirements found in Environmental Protection 
Agency Subtitle D regulations as they relate to publicly owned or operated municipal solid 
waste landfill facilities became effective.  The regulations require that financial assurance to 
perform closure, post-closure, and corrective activities for landfill operations be provided. 

 
The City has chosen to provide this assurance through use of the Local Government Financial 
Test and Government Guarantee.  This guarantee consists of three basic components, which 
are a financial component, public notice component, and a record keeping and reporting 
component. 

 
The public notice component of the Local Government Financial Test and Government 
Guarantee demonstrating financial assurance for closure, post-closure, or corrective action 
required by Environmental Protection Agency Subtitle D regulations for landfills operated by 
local government requires the following disclosures to be made. 

 
1. The specific facility covered is the City of Fort Stockton Municipal Solid Waste Facility 

Texas Natural Resource Conservation Commission permit #976. 
 

2. Financial assurance costs are anticipated in the following categories of expenditures and in 
the amount of the corresponding cost estimates.  The original estimates will be adjusted for 
inflation. 

 
Closure Costs 2,109,881$       
Post-Closure Costs 429,000            
Corrective Action -                    

Total 2,538,881$       
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3. The anticipated year of closure is 2023 with closure costs having been fully incurred within 
that time.  It is anticipated that post-closure costs will be incurred evenly across the 30-
year post-closure monitoring period at $14,300 per year. 

 
Q. Risk Management 

 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to and destruction 
of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the City carries commercial 
insurance.  The City has not had any significant reductions in insurance coverage from 
coverage in the prior years. 

 
R. Expenditures in Excess of Appropriations 

 
Functional expenditures exceeded appropriations as follows: 

 
Appropriations Expenditures Excess

General Government 3,219,800$       3,279,056$       (59,256)$           
Public Safety 2,427,000        2,495,421       (68,421)            
Public Works 1,002,000        1,305,280       (303,280)          
Culture & Recreation 100,000           103,422          (3,422)              
Debt Principal 115,840           125,760          (9,920)              
Debt Interest -                   2,012              (2,012)              
Transfers Out 100,000           200,000          (100,000)          

 
 

S. Economic Dependency 
 

The Texas Department of Criminal Justice Facility Lynaugh Unit is a major customer of the 
Water & Sewer Fund comprising sales of Water & Sewer services in the amount of $744,934, 
which is in excess of 10% of total sales for the fund. 

 
T. Prior Period Adjustments 

 
Prior period adjustments for the year ended September 30, 2010 are as follows: 

 

 

Governmental General 2008 Series
Activities Fund Certificates

Deferred Revenue for Sanitation was not removed in 2009 135,978$        135,978$         -$               
Duplicate posting in Accounts Payable in 2009 5,877               -                   5,877              
Prior year deferred revenue was not posted to net assets 899,265         -                  -                
Differences in fixed assets as compared to schedule 161,972           -                   -                  
Total 1,203,092$      135,978$         5,877$            
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Texas Municipal Retirement System 
 

September 30, 2010 
 
 
Historical trend information about the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS), an agent multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan, is presented as supplementary information.  It is intended to 
help users assess the plan’s funding status on an on-going basis, assess progress made in 
accumulating assets to pay benefits when due, and make comparisons with other comparable 
retirement systems. 
 

Analysis of Funding Progress 
 

 

Actuarial Value of Accrued Funded AAL Covered Percentage
Valuation Assets Liability Ratio (UAAL) Payrol l of Payroll

Date (a) (b) (a/b) (b-a) (c) ((b-a)/c)

12/31/2007 3,643,761$    5,696,824$   64.0% 2,053,063$    3,493,800$    58.8%

12/31/2008 3,920,750$    7,443,428$   52.7% 3,522,678$    3,906,050$    90.2%

12/31/2009 4,471,869$    7,990,355$   56.0% 3,518,486$    4,054,468$    86.8%
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Analysis of Funding Progress 
 

 

Actuarial Value of Accrued Funded AAL Covered Percentage
Valuation Assets Liability Ratio (UAAL) Payrol l of Payroll

Date (a) (b) (a/b) (b-a) (c) ((b-a)/c)

9/30/2008 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

9/30/2009 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

9/30/2010 -$                  2,966,235$   0.0% 2,966,235$    4,054,468$    73.2%
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CITY OF FORT STOCKTON
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Recreation

Department Fund

Rehab

Fund

LEOSE

Grant

TDH

200 201 203 204

ASSETS

2,6463,788 1,727 4,003Cash and Cash Equivalents $ $ $ $

5,373135 - -Receivables (Net)

-4,003 - -Due from Other Funds

-50 - -Due from Component Unit

-- - -Other Assets

Total Assets 7,976 8,019 1,727 4,003$ $ $ $

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:

-2,808 - -Accounts Payable $ $ $ $

-- - -Intergovernmental Payable

-- 961 4,003Due to Other Funds

5,373- 766 -Deferred Revenues

Total Liabilities 2,808 5,373 1,727 4,003

Fund Balances:

Reserved For:

-- - -     Other Purposes

Unreserved and Undesignated:

2,6465,168 - -     Reported in the Special Revenue Fund

Total Fund Balances 5,168 2,646 - -

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 7,976 8,019 1,727 4,003$ $ $ $
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Recycling

Sales

RTC

Security

Border

Grant

Police

Nonmajor

Special

Revenue Funds

Nonmajor

Governmental

Funds

205 208 209 210 Total Total

Grant

65,387- 65,387- 5,464 47,759$ $ $ $ $ $

5,508- 5,508- - -

80,163- 80,163- 76,160 -

50- 50- - -

16,000- 16,000- 16,000 -

- 97,624 47,759 - 167,108 167,108$ $ $ $ $ $

2,808- 2,808- - -$ $ $ $ $ $

694- 694- - 694

52,029- 52,029- - 47,065

6,139- 6,139- - -

- - 47,759 - 61,670 61,670

97,624- 97,624- 97,624 -

7,814- 7,814- - -

- 97,624 - - 105,438 105,438

- 97,624 47,759 - 167,108 167,108$ $ $ $ $ $
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CITY OF FORT STOCKTON
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES  IN

FUND BALANCES - NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Recreation

Department Fund

Rehab

Fund

LEOSE

Grant

TDH

200 201 203 204

REVENUES:
-125,500 961 -Intergovernmental Revenue and Grants $ $ $ $
-89,880 - -Charges for Services

39- - -Investment Earnings
4050 - -Other Revenue

     Total Revenues 215,430 79 961 -

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
-- 961 -Public Safety
-- - -Public Works
-314,321 - -Culture and Recreation

     Total Expenditures 314,321 - 961 -

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
     Expenditures

79(98,891) - -

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES): 
-100,000 - -Transfers In

     Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 100,000 - - -

          Net Change in Fund Balance 1,109 79 - -

Fund Balance - October 1 (Beginning) 4,059 2,567 - -

Fund Balance - September 30 (Ending) $ 5,168 $ 2,646 $ - $ -
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Recycling

Grant Sales

RTC

Security
Border

Grant

Police

205 208 209 210 Total

Nonmajor

Governmental

Funds

Total

Nonmajor

Special

Revenue Funds

-10,000 - 17,688 154,149154,149$ $ $ $ $ $
-- - - 89,88089,880
6- - - 4545
-- - - 9090

10,000 6 - 17,688 244,164244,164

-- - 17,688 18,64918,649
-10,000 - - 10,00010,000
-- - - 314,321314,321

10,000 - - 17,688 342,970342,970

- 6 - - (98,806) (98,806)

-- - - 100,000100,000

- - - - 100,000100,000

- 6 - - 1,194 1,194

- 97,618 - - 104,244 104,244

$ - $ 97,624 $ - $ - $ 105,438 $ 105,438
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SECTION I --- SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS 
 

 
Financial Statements 
 
 

 
Type of auditor’s report issued:      Unqualified 

 
 

 
Internal control over financial reporting: 
• Material weakness(es) identified? 

 
   X   Yes 

 
 
         No 

 
 

 
• Control deficiency(ies) identified not considered 

to be material weaknesses? 
 
   X   Yes 

 
 
         None Reported 

 
 

 
 
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? 

 
   X   Yes 

 
 
         No 

 
 
Federal Awards 
 
 

 
Internal control over major programs: 
• Material weakness(es) identified? 

 
         Yes 

 
 
   X    No 

 
 

 
• Control deficiency identified not considered 

to be material weaknesses? 
 
   X   Yes 

 
 
         None Reported 

 
 

 
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for 

major programs 
 
Unqualified 

 
 

 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be 

reported in accordance with Circular A-133, 
Section. 510(a)? 

 
 
   X   Yes 

 
 
 
         No 

 
 
Identification of Major Programs 
 
 

 
CFDA Numbers(s) 

 
Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

 
  

14.871 
 

Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers (C) 
 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and 

Type B programs: 
 
$300,000 

 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?         Yes 

 
    X   No 
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SECTION II --- FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 
 
10-II-01 – EMS Collections 
The City did not exercise proper control over EMS service collections, as a result the following 
discrepancies were noted: 
• Twelve (12) Intermedix (EMS collection agency) remittances totaling $69,763 were not immediately 

deposited in the City’s bank accounts.  The deposit of the remittances was delayed from one (1) month 
to six (6) months. 

• $4,000 of remittances received in July 2009 were not deposited.  Subsequently, management took 
steps to initiate collection of the undeposited $4,000. 

• Intermedix reported approximately $13,000 more collected than collections recorded in the City’s books. 
Subsequent to the audit fieldwork, the City was able to reconcile most of the $13,000 difference. 

 
We recommend that the City establishes procedures to ensure that all collections are timely and properly 
reconciled.  Discrepancies noted should be fully investigated.  The City should strictly require that all 
collections are deposited in the day that the collections are received.  The deposits should be done by 
individuals that do not have access to the general ledger. 
 
 
10-II-02 – 2008 Certificates of Obligations Proceeds Use 
 
On October 23, 2008, the City issued the 2008 Certificates of Obligation in the principal amount of 
$6,945,000.  The bond proceeds, as stated in the certificates of obligation ordinance, are to finance various 
projects including:  Landfill improvements, acquisition of finance dept. hardware and software, police and 
fire dept. building improvements, gas system improvements, etc.  At September 30, 2010, the City’s 2008 
Certificates of Obligation Capital Project fund (the Capital Project) report $1,404,635 as due from other 
funds.  This balance resulted primarily from two transfers from the Capital Project’s cash account to the 
City’s pooled cash account: transfer of $103,297; dated 1/14/2010 and transfer of $1,000,000; dated March 
26, 2010.  As of the date of this report, the City has not reimbursed the Capital Project.  The transfers noted 
above appear to have been made for the purpose of financing the City’s normal operations and not the 
acquisition of the various projects in the certificates of obligation ordinance. 
 
We recommend that the City consults with its bond counsel as to the best course of action to address this 
condition.  Additionally, the City should establish a process to ensure that bond funds are used only for their 
intended purpose.  Funds transferred out of the Capital Project funds should require approval by the City 
Manager after a review to ensure that the transfer is in reimbursement of expenditures related to the 
projects as authorized in the certificate of obligations covenants. 
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10-II-03 – General Ledger 
 
As in the prior year, the general ledger was not reviewed nor reconciled throughout the year.  As a result, 
numerous yearend adjustments and significant audit adjustments were necessary to reflect the proper 
balances in the City’s financial statements. 
 
We recommend that the City review and reconcile the general ledger monthly to ensure that reliable 
financial information is available for management to be able to exercise adequate control and utilize 
information to make financial decisions. 
 
 
10-II-04 – Bank Reconciliations 
 
A key component of internal control is the monthly reconciliation of bank accounts to the general ledger.  
Standard bank reconciliations were not prepared until after September 30, 2010. 
 
We recommend that standard bank reconciliations be prepared timely and consistently as of each month 
end for all checking accounts.  The person who prepares the bank reconciliations should be a person who 
does not have access to the bank accounts.  In addition, the finance director should document the review 
and approval of the reconciliations and any resulting adjustments. 
 
 
10-II-05 – Capital Assets 
 
The City’s capital assets records have not been reconciled to a physical inventory.  In the current year we 
noted various capital additions were not recorded as capital outlay.  These additions are included in the 
capital asset schedules and the financial statements. 
 
We recommend that capital assets procedures be established to properly account and control the City’s 
capital assets.  Capital assets should be updated on a monthly basis as assets are acquired.  All movable 
furniture and equipment exceeding the City established dollar threshold should be tagged as City property. 
In addition, a physical inventory should be conducted at least every two years. 
 
 
10-II-06 – Economic Development Corporation 
 
The 4B Corporation is not in compliance with various sections of its bylaws: 
 
Section 4.14 states that “An attorney shall review in writing any and all contracts of the Board which exceed 
an expenditure of $2,500 or obligate the Board in such amount.”  Such a review by an attorney is not being 
performed. 
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Section 7.04 Checks and Drafts – states that “all checks, drafts, or orders for the payment of money, notes 
or other evidence of indebtedness issued in the name of the Corporation shall be signed by two individuals: 
 the Director of Econ Development, or the President, or the Treasurer, or such other person designated by 
the Board.  It appears the intent of this section was to have someone from or representing the EDC as one 
of the check signers.  EDC checks are processed through the same process and signers the City uses 
although the bylaws appear to be requiring someone from the EDC to sign the checks. 
 
Section 8.02 Periodic Reports – this section states that “The Corporation shall provide to the City Council 
periodic summaries of proposed dispersal of funds for anticipated committee projects, and funds that are 
dispersed over $50,000”.  The City Council had elected not to approve transactions less than $50,000 for 
the EDC.  The bylaws appear to dilute the intent of the State laws related to EDC which state that the City 
Council is to approve all expenditures from the EDC. 
 
We recommend the EDC regularly review their bylaws and State laws and take actions which will ensure 
compliance with applicable requirements, both what they specifically say and what they were intended to 
mean.  The EDC should also make adjustments to sections which are vague, outdated or contradict better 
business practices. 
 
 
SECTION III – FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 
10-III-01 – CFDA #14.871 – Home Ownership Program 
 
Criteria 
A Housing Authority may elect to provide home ownership assistance to eligible families in the Section 8 
program.  To provide home ownership assistance the Authority must comply with the following regulations: 
 
§982.625 Home Ownership Option: General 

• The PHA must demonstrate in its Annual Plan that it has the capacity, or will acquire the capacity, 
to successfully operate a Section 8 homeownership program. 

 
§982.627 Home Ownership Option: Eligibility requirements for families 

• The family receiving the assistance must satisfy the first time homeowner requirements. 
• The family has not defaulted on a mortgage securing debt to purchase a home under the 

homeownership option. 
• The family must demonstrate that one or more adult member of the family who will own the home at 

commencement of homeownership assistance is currently employed on a full time basis and has 
been continuously employed during the year before commencement of homeownership. 
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§982.630 Home Ownership Option: Homeownership counseling 

• Before Commencement of homeownership assistance for a family, the family must attend and 
satisfactorily complete the pre-assistance homeownership program and housing counseling 
program required by the PHA. 

• If the PHA is not using a HUD approved housing counseling agency to provide the counseling for 
families, the PHA should ensure that its counseling program is consistent with the homeownership 
counseling provided under HUD’s Housing Counseling program. 

 
Condition 
Although the Authority has provided home ownership assistance, based on our testing and our inquiries, 
the Authority did not document compliance with home ownership requirements §982.625; §982.627 or 
§982.630. 
 
 
10-III-01 – CFDA #14.871 – Home Ownership Program (Continued) 
 
Questioned Costs 
Known:  $4,923 
Likely: $24,540 
 
Perspective Information 
The authority has operated only under management direction since inception with limited board or 
management oversight. 
 
Cause 
Management was not aware of the requirement to monitor and document compliance. 
 
Effect or Potential Effect  
The Authority issued home ownership assistance payments and was not documenting compliance with all 
of the program requirements. 
 
Recommendations 
We recommend that the Authority make a determination of whether they intend to operate a home 
ownership assistance program.  If the program continues the Authority should comply with the various 
requirements including the following: 
 

• Revise the Annual Plan to indicate that the PHA provides the homeownership program to 
participants, and that PHA maintains the capacity to successfully operate the Section 8 
Homeownership option. 

• Develop a method to ensure that the participant is a first time homeowner and has not defaulted on 
a mortgage securing debt. 

• Ensure and maintain documentation that indicates that the participant has full time employment and 
has retained employment during the year prior to the commencement of the assistance. 

• Ensure that the families entering into the program obtain counseling that is consistent with HUD 
guidelines. 
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10-III-02 – CFDA #14.871 – Voucher Management System Reporting 
 
Criteria 
HUD requires the Authority to submit expenditures through the Voucher Management System (VMS).  The 
report submitted is the HUD-52681-B, Voucher for Payment of Annual Contributions and Operating 
Statement (OMB No. 2577-0169).  The Authority submits this form electronically to HUD via the VMS and 
monthly through the FASS-PH system.  VMS data is used to determine renewal funding levels and for other 
funding, monitoring, and SEMAP-related decisions. 
 
Condition 
The Authority reported VMS data that was not reconciled to the general ledger for October 2009, 
 
November 2009, December of 2009 and February 2010, March 2010, and April for 2010 that did not agree 
to the general ledger data. 
 
Questioned Costs 
None 
 
Perspective Information 
The authority appeared to correct the process and report amounts that agreed to the general ledger 
subsequent to April 2010. 
 
Cause 
The Authority over-reported HAP payments by inconsistently reporting HAP payments made after the first 
of the month and as a result over reporting the monthly HAP payments. 
 
Effect or Potential Effect  
The Authority incorrectly reported HAP activity. 
 
Recommendations 
We recommend that the Authority and the City properly report HAP payments by consistently reporting 
certain HAP payments made after the first of the month as required by the VMS system. 
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10-III-03 – CFDA #14.871 – Special Tests and Provisions- Housing Assistance and Utility Allowance 
Payments 
 
Criteria 
In the prior year we selected and tested a sample of (25) twenty-five Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher 
participants out of approximately 100 and noted various non-compliance that resulted in a net HAP 
overpayment of $2,267 for the items tested.  In the current year we performed a review of (25) twenty-five 
Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher participants out of approximately 100, we noted the following: 

• One (1) participant’s payment standards were incorrect due to over-housing the participant 
• Seven (7) utility allowances were incorrect 
• Six (6) instances in which the rent reasonableness was not sufficiently documented, as required by 

HUD 
• Two (2) instances in which social security cards were not documented as required by HUD 
• Four (4) instances in which criminal background checks were not performed for new tenants. 

 
Condition 
The Authority did not properly apply payment standards and utility allowances based on the participant data 
and the related criteria. 
 
 
09-III-02 – CFDA #14.871 – Special Tests and Provisions- Housing Assistance and Utility Allowance 
Payments (continued) 
 
Questioned Costs 
The result of the improper application of payment standards and utility allowances the Authority made 
$1,232 in HAP overpayments and $537 in HAP underpayments, resulting in a net HAP overpayment of 
$695 for the items tested. 
 
Perspective Information 
Improper application of payment standards and utility allowance for the participants selected resulted in the 
computed HAP overpayments and HAP underpayments. 
 
Cause 
In prior years the authority has operated in an autonomous capacity with minimal oversight from the board 
of directors as a result these errors occurred without a system of checks and balances.  Subsequent to the 
testing performed in the prior year and after July 2010 the City has re-established board oversight.  
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Effect or Potential Effect  
 
The result of the improper HAP assistance and Utility Allowance payments results in questioned costs and 
lack of compliance with the payment standards. 
 
Recommendations 
We recommend that the Authority ensure the following: 

• Proper use of payment standards based on family/voucher size 
• Proper application of utility allowances from the Board approved Utility Allowance Schedules 
• Ensure that a copy of the social security card of each participant is maintained 
• Ensure that criminal background checks are performed for each new client. 

 



CITY OF FORT STOCKTON
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010

Pass
Through Federal
Grantor's CFDA
Number Grantor/Pass Through Grantor/Program Title/Grant Title Number Expenditures

FEDERAL AWARDS:
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development

Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers (C) 14.871 563,192$           

Total Federal Awards 563,192$           

The notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards form an integral part of this schedule.
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1. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the federal grant activity 

of the City and is presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting.  The information in this 
schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of OMB Circular A-133, “Audits of 
States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.”  Therefore, some amounts presented 
in this schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the basic 
financial statements. 

 
For programs which require a local match the amount reported as expenditures does not include 
expenditures paid with local matching funds. 
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SECTION II --- FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 
 
10-II-01 – EMS Collections 
 
Responsible Staff:  Finance Department; new Chief Financial Officer in place.  Finance staff has 
reconciled the general ledger and Intermedix reports through end of month, July 2011.  City has sent 
letters to customers requesting replacement checks with positive results.  Procedures have been put in 
place to resolve any differences that may have occurred during reconciliation.  City staff making deposits 
and those conducting the reconciliation are separated and have different responsibilities within the City’s 
Financial Department. 
 
 
10-II-02 – 2008 Certificates of Obligations Proceeds Use 
 
Responsible Staff:  City Manager & Finance Department; transfer procedures have been updated so that 
the two required primary signatures are not the same person entering the transfer on the general ledger.  
For the fiscal year 2011-2012, a new bank account will be opened as a “check clearing” account to ensure 
only funds transferred into this new clearing account are outstanding/written checks (i.e. Accounts 
Payable or Payroll checks). 
 
A conference call was held on August 18, 2011 to consult with Bond Counsel; making them aware of the 
Payables that the City owes the 2008 Certificates of Obligation.  A follow-up call was held on August 29, 
2011 and several options were discussed resulting in the following: 

1. During the current fiscal year the City will reclassify and transfer from the Texpool investment fund 
($100,000) into the 2008 CO general ledger. 

2. A cash transfer of $400,000 has been moved from undesignated funds into the 2008 CO bank 
account effective 8/31/11. 

3. An invoice from Parkhill, Smith, & Cooper (engineering firm) that completes a wastewater project 
in the amount of $215,000 has been designated as 2008 CO monies. 

 
At a Special Council Meeting held on September 6th, 2011 City Council heard a presentation from Bond 
Counsel, Estrada Hinojosa Investment Bankers.  The Council chose to increase the I & S portion of the 
tax rate to cover more of the Debt Service payment to allow for the Enterprise Fund portion of the debt 
payment to be deferred from the FY2011-2012 budget by $435,000 to complete the reimbursement of the 
2008 Certificates of Obligation, with the intent to complete by January 1, 2012. 
 
 
10-II-03 – General Ledger 
 
Responsible Staff: Finance Department; three-way reconciliation between General Ledger, Bank 
Statement and transfer register/activity was completed as of March 31, 2011 and is being kept up on a 
monthly basis. 
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10-II-04 – Bank Reconciliations 
 
Responsible Staff: Finance Department; three-way reconciliation between General Ledger, Bank 
Statement and transfer register/activity was completed as of March 31, 2011 and is being kept up on a 
monthly basis.  The new procedure is that all reconciliation done is approved by the Director of Finance 
after staff reconciles the system. 
 
 
10-II-05 – Capital Assets 
 
Responsible Staff:  Finance Department; new procedures are being drafted to accomplish monthly 
updates to the Capital Asset (fixed asset) inventory list for all items within the City.  The assets for the 
Enterprise funds are done on a yearly basis but the smaller assets and General funds items have been 
left out. 
 
 
10-II-06 – Economic Development Corporation 
 
Responsible Staff: EDC Director; the city attorney, Martin Adams is also the attorney for the EDC and 
writes (or reviews) all EDC agreements.  Everything is generated through his office.  He does not currently 
issue a separate statement reviewing the documents.  Letter from Mr. Adams is attached verifying his 
review. 
 
The board did vote to amend the by-laws as per last year’s recommendation to ensure compliance; 
however it must be done at a special called meeting in January.  The Board will convene a special called 
meeting this January to amend the bylaws per the audit’s recommendations.  The EDC Director was the 
Interim City Manager from September to February and the required date for the meeting was not realized 
during that time. 
 
When the Council approves the budget, and those funds are dedicated to specific line items.  That 
approval in addition to the oversight below, has been considered as approval of expenses less than 
$50,000 as long as they are part of an existing line item.  After the budget is approved, the City Manager 
and City Chief Financial Officer have oversight of all EDC expenditures on behalf of the Council, as they 
issue and approve checks for all expenditures.  The EDC Director will, as part of the Council’s review of 
minutes, include updates on any expenditures over fifty thousand as an addendum to the minutes. 
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SECTION III – FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 
10-III-01 – CFDA #14.871 – Home Ownership Program 
 
Responsible Staff:  Luly Montoya 
 

• The administrative plan was updated this year, but failed to include the homeownership program 
rules and regulations.  This oversight will be taken care of immediately 

• The participants in the homeownership program are all first-time homeowners and the housing 
authority will make sure that future participants will be as well. 

• The Housing Authority will make sure that participants have held employment for at least one year 
by verifying employment and retaining all documentation in the file. 

• All participants will have to show proof of counseling according to HUD guidelines prior to the 
commencement of assistance. 

 
 
10-III-02 – CFDA #14.871 – Voucher Management System Reporting 
 
Responsible Staff:  Luly Montoya 
 
The oversight on over-reporting HAP payments to VMS has been corrected as of May of 2010. 
 
 
09-III-02 – CFDA #14.871 – Special Tests and Provisions- Housing Assistance and Utility 
Allowance Payments 
  
Responsible Staff:  Luly Montoya 
 

• The proper use of payments standards based on family/voucher size has been corrected since 
June of 2010, along with the using the correct utility allowance.  Also, copies of social security 
cards will be acquired on the two tenants noted and the housing authority will be documenting 
social security card copies for all tenants participating in the program. 

• The rent reasonableness is now sufficiently documented since June of 2010. 
• Criminal background checks are now performed on all new admissions. 
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09-III-01 – CFDA #14.871- Special Tests and Provisions- Retention of Waiting List 
 
Criteria 
The HUD Housing Choice Voucher Guidebook 7420.10g requires that the Authority select participants 
from the waiting list in accordance with HUD regulations and requirements and in compliance with 
admission policies in the Authority’s administrative plan.  The waiting list should contain sufficient 
information to allow the Authority to properly select families who are next eligible for a housing choice 
voucher according to the selection policy described in its administrative plan.  Applicant files must be 
retained for at least three years after the date an application is closed, withdrawn from the waiting list, or 
determined ineligible. 
 
Condition 
The Authority maintained no documentation to demonstrate that tenants were properly selected from the 
waiting list through July 2010.  Subsequent to July 2010 the Authority has maintained a waiting list.  The 
waiting list contains the name of the applicant, current address, date application was received, and any 
applicable notations regarding the attempts made to contact the person and whether the person was 
placed into housing etc. 
 
Questioned Costs 
None 
 
Perspective Information 
Participants may have been awarded Housing Vouchers out of order in relation to relevant waiting list 
criteria. 
 
Cause 
The Authority did not retain waiting list documentation to document compliance with applicable 
requirements. 
 
Effect or Potential Effect 
Since the waiting list was not available the Authority may not have properly selected the proper 
participants for the award of the Housing Voucher through July 2010. 
 
Recommendations 
We recommend that the Authority comply with all applicable requirements for documenting the use of a 
waiting list and retaining such documentation as required for determination that the Housing Vouchers 
are properly awarded. 
 
This finding was satisfactorily resolved in the current year. 
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09-III-02 – CFDA #14.871 – Special Tests and Provisions- Housing Assistance and Utility 
Allowance Payments 
 
Criteria 
In the prior year we selected and tested a sample of (25) twenty-five Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher 
participants out of approximately 100 and noted various non-compliance that resulted in a net HAP 
overpayment of $2,267 for the items tested.  In the current year we performed a review of (25) twenty-
five Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher participants out of approximately 100, we noted the following: 

• One (1) participant’s payment standards were incorrect due to over-housing the participant 
• Seven (7) utility allowances were incorrect 
• Six (6) instances in which the rent reasonableness was not sufficiently documented, as required 

by HUD 
• Two (2) instances in which social security cards were not documented as required by HUD 
• Four (4) instances in which criminal background checks were not performed for new tenants. 

 
Condition 
The Authority did not properly apply payment standards and utility allowances based on the participant 
data and the related criteria. 
 
Questioned Costs 
The result of the improper application of payment standards and utility allowances the Authority made 
$1,232 in HAP overpayments and $537 in HAP underpayments, resulting in a net HAP overpayment of 
$695 for the items tested. 
 
Perspective Information 
Improper application of payment standards and utility allowance for the participants selected resulted in 
the computed HAP overpayments and HAP underpayments. 
 
Cause 
In prior years the authority has operated in an autonomous capacity with minimal oversight from the 
board of directors as a result these errors occurred without a system of checks and balances.  
Subsequent to the testing performed in the prior year and after July 2010 the City has re-established 
board oversight.  
 
Effect or Potential Effect  
 
The result of the improper HAP assistance and Utility Allowance payments results in questioned costs 
and lack of compliance with the payment standards. 
 
Recommendations 
We recommend that the Authority ensure the following: 

• Proper use of payment standards based on family/voucher size 
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09-III-02 – CFDA #14.871 – Special Tests and Provisions- Housing Assistance and Utility 
Allowance Payments (Continued) 
 

• Proper application of utility allowances from the Board approved Utility Allowance Schedules 
• Ensure that a copy of the social security card of each participant is maintained 
• Ensure that criminal background checks are performed for each new client. 

 
Not resolved. See current year finding 10-III-03. 
 
 
09-III-03 – CFDA #14.871 – Board Oversight 
 
Criteria 
Sound financial and programmatic management requires oversight from the Board of Directors of the 
Housing Authority.  We noted the following requirements and/or recommended best practices: 

• The preparation of a budget and the establishment of good financial management controls are 
critical components of the PHA's financial management process. 

• HUD recommends that PHAs prepare monthly financial reports such as the following: 
- Operating statement reflecting income, expenditures, and excess of income over 

expenditures; 
- Balance sheet reflecting assets, liabilities, and fund balance; 
- HAP Utilization report. 

• The PHA’s procedures for establishing and revising its payment standard schedule must be set 
forth in its administrative plan.  Payment standards are used to calculate the housing assistance 
payment (HAP) that the PHA pays to the owner on behalf of the family leasing the unit. 

• The PHA annual plan requires information on the housing needs of housing choice voucher 
program applicants, the resources the local housing choice voucher program brings to meet 
those needs, and the policies, rules and standards that govern program participation and 
management. 

• The Utility Allowance Schedule must be reviewed annually and adjusted if necessary. 
 
Condition 
The Housing Authority of Fort Stockton Board of Directors is the governing body responsible for the 
oversight of the Authority however certain oversight activities were not performed: 

• The Board does not review and approve the annual budget 
• The Board does not meet regularly and is not provided financial reports 
• The Administrative Plan does not state its procedures for establishing and revising its payment 

standard schedule.  Additionally, the administrative plan has not been reviewed or updated for a 
number of years (>4 years)  

• The PHA Annual Plan has not been reviewed/approved by the Board annually 
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09-III-03 – CFDA #14.871 – Board Oversight (Continued) 
 

• The Utility Allowance Schedules have changed but have not been reviewed or approved by the 
Board 

 
Questioned Costs 
None 
 
Perspective Information 
The authority has operated only under management direction since inception with limited board 
oversight.  
 
Cause 
The Authority has operated under City Management as a department of the City as such Board 
oversight has been limited. 
 
Effect or Potential Effect  
The Authority operated utilizing limited financial and programmatic management oversight by the Board 
of Directors. 
 
Recommendations 
We recommend that the Board of Directors meet on a monthly basis and provide financial and 
programmatic guidance for the Authority.  The Authority should provide the Board the annual budget; 
monthly financial reports; PHA plans for approval and ensure that the administrative plan is up to date. 
 
This comment was satisfactorily resolved in the current year. 
 
 
09-III-04 – CFDA #14.871 – Section 8 Management Assessment Program 
 
Criteria 
Within 60 days of the end of the Authority’s fiscal year end, the Authority must complete and submit form 
HUD-52648, Section 8 Management Assessment Program (SEMAP) Certification a performance 
measure tool to HUD. 
 
Statement of Condition 
The Authority failed to submit the SEMAP and as a result has obtained the rating of “Troubled” from 
HUD. 
 
Questioned Costs 
None  
 
Perspective Information 
The designation as a “Troubled” agency generally requires a field visit and assessment by HUD. 
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09-III-04 – CFDA #14.871 – Section 8 Management Assessment Program (Continued) 
 
Cause 
In prior years the Authority has been exempt from the SEMAP reporting requirements however the 
report was required during the current year as a result the Authority has been notified that it is currently 
considered “Troubled” and a site visit has been scheduled. 
 
Effect or Potential Effect 
The Authority is therefore not in compliance with the reporting requirements and will undergo a site visit 
by HUD. 
 
Recommendations 
We recommend that the Authority prepare and submit SEMAP to HUD within 60 days of year end.  We 
further recommend that the Board approve the SEMAP prior to its submission. 
 
This comment was satisfactorily resolved in the current year. 
 




